Contract No:

This document was prepared in conjunction with work accomplished under Contract No. DE-AC09-08SR22470 with the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) Office of Environmental Management (EM).

Disclaimer:

This work was prepared under an agreement with and funded by the U.S. Government. Neither the U.S. Government or its employees, nor any of its contractors, subcontractors or their employees, makes any express or implied:

- 1) warranty or assumes any legal liability for the accuracy, completeness, or for the use or results of such use of any information, product, or process disclosed; or
- 2) representation that such use or results of such use would not infringe privately owned rights; or
- 3) endorsement or recommendation of any specifically identified commercial product, process, or service.

Any views and opinions of authors expressed in this work do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government, or its contractors, or subcontractors.



Permanganate Oxidation of Actual Defense Waste Processing Facility (DWPF) Slurry Mix Evaporator Condensate Tank (SMECT) and Offgas Condensate Tank (OGCT) Samples to Remediate Glycolate

C. A. Nash M. J. Siegfried April 2020 SRNL-STI-2020-00012, Revision 0

SRNL.DOE.GOV

DISCLAIMER

This work was prepared under an agreement with and funded by the U.S. Government. Neither the U.S. Government or its employees, nor any of its contractors, subcontractors or their employees, makes any express or implied:

- 1. warranty or assumes any legal liability for the accuracy, completeness, or for the use or results of such use of any information, product, or process disclosed; or
- 2. representation that such use or results of such use would not infringe privately owned rights; or
- 3. endorsement or recommendation of any specifically identified commercial product, process, or service.

Any views and opinions of authors expressed in this work do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government, or its contractors, or subcontractors.

Printed in the United States of America

Prepared for U.S. Department of Energy

Keywords: Defense Waste Processing Facility, Recycle Collection Tank, Glycolate Destruction, Oxidation, Permanganate

Retention: Permanent

Permanganate Oxidation of Actual Defense Waste Processing Facility (DWPF) Slurry Mix Evaporator Condensate Tank (SMECT) and Offgas Condensate Tank (OGCT) Samples to Remediate Glycolate

C. A. Nash M. J. Siegfried

April 2020



Prepared for the U.S. Department of Energy under contract number DE-AC09-08SR22470.

OPERATED BY SAVANNAH RIVER NUCLEAR SOLUTIONS

REVIEWS AND APPROVALS

AUTHORS:

C. A. Nash, Separation Sciences and Engineering	Date
M. J. Siegfried, Chemical Flowsheet Development	Date
TECHNICAL REVIEW:	
C. J. Martino, Chemical Flowsheet Development	Date
APPROVAL:	
B. J. Wiedenman, Manager Separation Sciences and Engineering	Date
F. M. Pennebaker, Manager Chemical Processing Sciences	Date
S. D. Fink, Director, Chemical Processing Sciences	Date
T. H. Huff, Manager DWPF/Saltstone Engineering	Date
J. E. Occhipinti, Manager Tank Farm Engineering	Date

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors wish to express their appreciation for the Shielded Cells personnel supporting this work, and especially Dee Wheeler and Kevin Haupfear. We thank Tom White for going the extra mile to provide rapid turnaround glycolate measurements supporting timely test batch processing.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Savannah River Remediation (SRR) tasked Savannah River National Laboratory (SRNL) to examine glycolate destruction in radioactive samples emulating the proposed process. Experiments with radioactive Defense Waste Processing Facility (DWPF) condensates were performed to demonstrate the oxidation of glycolate using sodium permanganate. One test each was performed for Off-Gas Condensate Tank (OGCT) and Slurry Mix Evaporator Condensate Tank (SMECT) samples received. Condensates were blended with Recycle Collection Tank (RCT) heel simulant and Slurry Mix Evaporator (SME) product containing glycolate to represent typical RCT compositions with estimated nominal entrainment of glycolate.

A permanganate to glycolate (P/G) molar ratio targeting 5.7 decreased sample glycolate concentration below Ion Chromatography (IC), glycolate method reporting limits in less than 2 hours for the OGCT sample and in less than 8 hours for the SMECT sample.

Both tests were completed safely with the following observations:

- The glycolate destruction reaction was faster in the OGCT-RCT mixture than in the SMECT-RCT mixture. This may be due to the insoluble solids present in the OGCT feed solution prior to initiating the experiment. The SMECT feed sample had no solids. Simulant work had suggested that solids improve kinetics. In addition, the current SMECT feed had measurable formate from the DWPF formate flowsheet that consumed some permanganate in the testing. This might have slowed the process for the SMECT batch.
- 2) Formate concentrations were decreased to below reporting limits within 30 minutes for both mixtures. This result is consistent with basic chemistry literature cited in this report but differs from past observations in SRNL simulant test results.
- 3) Oxidation of nitrite to nitrate was minimal during the oxidation reactions in alkaline solutions.
- 4) Soluble mercury decreased for both tests.
- 5) The SMECT sample was analyzed for methylmercury. Triplicate results were all less than 0.2 mg/L. All mercury in the SMECT solution was likely inorganic. The OGCT sample was not analyzed for methylmercury.
- 6) For both reactions, oxalate increased by approximately the same molar amount as glycolate decreased, within analytical uncertainty. The stoichiometry is suggested by the chemical equation below. The current work targeted a P/G ratio of 5.7 versus 4.0 of the equation shown here. The increased amount of permanganate over 4.0 would be for kinetic purposes and to cover imperfect chemical yield.

$C_2H_3O_3^- + 4MnO_4^- + 5OH^- = C_2O_4^{2-} + 4MnO_4^{2-} + 4H_2O$

It is recommended to continue the in-progress modeling to assess any impacts of kinetics, formate, and P/G ratio. A small amount of formate is generated during glycolate processing. Formate in the RCT will be much lower than what is found in the formate flowsheet. Future modeling work may adjust the P/G ratio based on needs for faster kinetics or lower required product glycolate content, such as 5 or 10 mg/L glycolate. The needs for faster process time or lower product glycolate are not defined at this time. Chemical and tank farm modeling, including considerations for downstream thermolytic hydrogen formation, are planned to meet such needs.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLESviii
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSix
1.0 Introduction
2.0 Basis for Real Waste Testing
3.0 Experimental Procedure
3.1 Real Waste Composition
3.1.1 Source of Glycolate
3.1.2 SMECT and OGCT Samples
3.1.3 Source of the Heel Component
3.2 Oxidation Stoichiometry
3.3 Experiment Scaling
3.4 Experimental Apparatus and Parameters
3.5 Sample Preparations and Characterization
3.6 Quality Assurance
4.0 Results and Discussion
4.1 Waste Component Characterization
4.2 Glycolate Destruction
4.2.1 Manganese
4.2.2 ICPES Results
4.2.3 Mercury
4.2.4 Weight Percent Solids
4.3 Comparison of radioactive waste and simulant testing
5.0 Conclusions and Recommendations
6.0 References

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Test Phase Status and TTQAP Task Activities
Table 2. RCT heel plus condensate simulant composition (pH ~13)
Table 3. Chemical scaling of laboratory experiments vs. DWPF Operations
Table 4: Composition of SME, SMECT, OGCT and RCT Samples 7
Table 5: SMECT and OGCT Samples and RCT Composite Samples - ICPES Results*
Table 6. Isotopic Masses found in the DWPF Samples 8
Table 7: Summary of Activity from as-received SMECT and OGCT samples
Table 8: SMECT experimental results – glycolate destruction and nitrite/nitrate ratio10
Table 9: OGCT experimental results – glycolate destruction and nitrite/nitrate ratio 10
Table 10: Soluble Manganese concentrations in OGCT and SMECT Solutions
Table 11: SMECT Experimental Results – ICPES 13
Table 12: OGCT Experimental Results – ICPES 13
Table 13. DMA Total Mercury (Soluble) for Various Samples 14
Table 14. Weight % Total and Insoluble Solids Measurements 15

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Photograph of the experimental apparatus in the Shielded Cell4
Figure 2: Photographs of the combined OGCT sample and the combined OGCT, RCT Heel, and SME product
Figure 3: Glycolate and oxalate concentration as a function of time in <i>(left) SMECT</i> and <i>(right)</i> OGCT solutions during the permanganate reaction. IC reporting limits as shown
Figure 4: Comparison of glycolate destruction reactions performed in radioactive waste (SMECT and OGCT) and simulants (Sim 1.8 L and Sim 20 L) with similar initial glycolate concentrations and P/G ratios

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ALARA	As Low as Reasonably Achievable
AD	SRNL Analytical Development
CSTF	Concentration, Storage, and Transfer Facilities
DMA	Direct Mercury Analysis
DWPF	Defense Waste Processing Facility
IC	Ion Chromatography
ICPES	Inductively Coupled Plasma Emission Spectrometry
ICPMS	Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry
OGCT	Off-gas Condensate Tank
N/A	Not Applicable
P/G	Permanganate to glycolate (initial molar ratio)
RCT	Recycle Collection Tank
RSD	Relative Standard Deviation
SC	Safety Class
SME	Slurry Mix Evaporator
SMECT	Slurry Mix Evaporator Condensate Tank
SRNL	Savannah River National Laboratory
SRR	Savannah River Remediation
SWPF	Salt Waste Processing Facility
TAR	Technical Assistance Request
TIC	Total Inorganic Carbon
TOC	Total Organic Carbon
TTQAP	Task Technical and Quality Assurance Plan

1.0 Introduction

The Savannah River Site's Defense Waste Processing Facility (DWPF) flowsheet is being upgraded with the introduction of the Nitric-Glycolic flowsheet. The new flowsheet improves or maintains necessary parameters such as 1) reduction of mercury, 2) adjustment of feed rheology, and 3) adjustment of melter oxidation/reduction potential. Further, the potential for catalytic hydrogen generation in DWPF processing is virtually eliminated.

The Nitric-Glycolic flowsheet significantly improves DWPF's ability to address one of the Savannah River Site's key challenges: the incorporation of effluent received from the Salt Waste Processing Facility (SWPF). SWPF will deliver significant effluent volume to DWPF, resulting in a concurrent increase in DWPF effluent returned to the Concentration, Storage, and Transfer Facilities (CSTF). Testing to develop a process to oxidize glycolate and other organic species was requested by Savannah River Remediation (SRR).¹ A Task Technical and Quality Assurance Plan (TTQAP) describes the testing requested by SRR in the development of a process to oxidize glycolate and other organic species that contribute to thermolysis hydrogen generation.² Scoping studies have been completed as requested by a Technical Assistance Request (TAR)³ to evaluate the feasibility of using sodium permanganate and Fenton's Reagent (iron catalyzed hydrogen peroxide) for destroying glycolate.⁴ The results from these scoping studies were summarized in a report.⁵

Tests with simulants to develop the oxidation flowsheet for the Recycle Collection Tank (RCT) are complete. Phases are shown in Table 1. The first phase was additional scoping tests of permanganate and Fenton's reagent.⁵ The second phase was a matrix of 23 tests that informed a down select decision by SRR and completed testing needed to understand the impact of various factors in defining the optimum processing conditions for oxidation of organics.⁶ From the results of this testing, oxidation by permanganate was chosen over Fenton's reagent with hydrogen peroxide. The third phase of testing demonstrated nominal operation of the permanganate oxidation process under protocols like those used in DWPF. The specific off-normal condition of a Chemical Process Cell foamover into the SMECT was also performed in this phase. A report documents the results of these tests.⁷

Phase	Description	Status	TTQAP Task Activity
1	Scoping Tests	Complete	1 e
2	Down Select Testing	Complete	1 a-g
3	Protocol Testing – Nominal and CPC Foamover Conditions	Complete	Parts of 1 and of 3
4	Actual Waste Testing	Described in this document	2
5	Larger Scale Testing	Complete	1 h
6	Corrosion Testing	Complete	4

Fable 1.	. Test	Phase	Status	and	TTQAP	Task	Activities
----------	--------	-------	--------	-----	-------	------	------------

(Phases 4-6 not in order of testing)

The Larger Scale Testing (Phase 5) describes experiments to determine the effect of scaling on the oxidation of glycolate with supplemental experiments to investigate the impact of the order of addition of the nitrite corrosion inhibitor, the influence of varied glycolate concentrations, and to further refine the suggested permanganate to glycolate (P/G) molar ratio.⁸ Studies, in Phase 6, were also performed with simulants showing accelerated corrosion is not expected for materials of construction of the RCT and downstream components with sodium permanganate.⁹

This report describes experiments and analysis to demonstrate the oxidation of glycolate using sodium permanganate with actual waste from DWPF (i.e., Phase 4). Each test batch contained a blend of OGCT or SMECT samples with simulant representative of a typical RCT heel and condensate mixture. Slurry Mix Evaporator (SME) product sludge containing glycolate was blended into the batches to represent nominal entrainment of glycolate in the RCT. SME product sludge was added to each test to target 125 mg/kg per the protocol runs for nominal foamover conditions.⁷ Note that while the reference uses units of mg/kg, current work uses liquid volumes and assumes density close to 1 g/mL consistent with the feeds, thus targeting 125 mg/L.

2.0 Basis for Real Waste Testing

Previous studies on the destruction of glycolate using permanganate in RCT simulants at caustic conditions demonstrated permanganate was effective in converting glycolate to oxalate, but showed negligible reactivity for other species in the simulant solution (e.g., formate, nitrite, etc.).⁷ Equation (1)) was found to best describe the observed reaction of glycolate with permanganate under nominal and low glycolate entrainment conditions.

$$C_{2}H_{3}O_{3}^{-} + 4MnO_{4}^{-} + 5OH^{-} = C_{2}O_{4}^{2-} + 4MnO_{4}^{2-} + 4H_{2}O$$
 (1)

The target glycolate concentration for radioactive waste testing was 125 mg/kg and represents a "nominal entrainment" of sludge and is similar to the expected future glycolate concentration in the RCT.¹⁰

The molar ratio of nitrite to nitrate in the CSTF returns is kept above 1.66 for corrosion control concerns.¹¹ In the Formic-Acid flowsheet, nitrite and caustic are added to the RCT heel before the addition of condensate to eliminate the need for chemical addition steps prior to transfer out of the RCT. In down-select and protocol tests, nitrite was added after condensate addition to avoid the potential for oxidation of nitrite to nitrate or NO_x by the permanganate intended for glycolate destruction. Results from simulant tests and published reports found nitrite is unreactive towards permanganate in caustic solutions. Tests with radioactive waste were performed with nitrite and caustic added before permanganate to confirm that added nitrite will not be oxidized.

3.0 Experimental Procedure

Two tests were performed to demonstrate nominal operation of the permanganate oxidation process under protocols similar to those to be used in DWPF. A detailed description of the experimental design can be found in the corresponding Run Plan.¹² The RCT mixture was a specified amount of SME product (to simulate glycolate entrainment) combined with a Heel simulant and either SMECT or OGCT sample. A transfer pipette was used for additions of 20 wt % sodium permanganate solution. Additions were not constant but were made drop by drop and required dozens of drops over the 20-minute addition. The DWPF and equivalent lab-scale flowrates were approximately 4.5 gpm and 3 mL/hour, respectively.

3.1 Real Waste Composition

The waste composition represents the transfer from the SMECT or OGCT onto the heel in the RCT. The heel was pre-charged with sodium hydroxide and nitrite to provide 4.4 moles of nitrite per mole of nitrate when combined with condensate.

3.1.1 Source of Glycolate

Glycolate for the testing was sourced from SME product present in SRNL Cell Block A. The product was a slurry of solids and liquid containing glycolate. The SME product used was labeled "SC-18 SME Product NMC&A M016108, Pareizs May 2017". Additional information can be found in references 10 and 13.^{10,13} The target concentration for the simulated entrainment is 125 mg/L glycolate in the waste batches representing approximately 14 gallons of carryover into the RCT.

3.1.2 SMECT and OGCT Samples

SMECT and OGCT liquid samples were transported from DWPF to SRNL (Shielded Cells A Block). A more detailed description of these materials can be found in Section 4.1.

3.1.3 Source of the Heel Component

The process simulation required a liquid heel material since it contributes organics, nitrite, and caustic, which might affect the later parts of the process. Since no preceding test material as a heel was available, a simple solution of nitrate, nitrite, formate, oxalate, and hydroxide sodium salts was used. The recipe was developed from previous experiments with simulants¹⁴ and is reproduced in Table 2 below.

Species	Conc. (mg/kg)	Conc. (M)
Sodium Formate	27.7	4.07 x 10 ⁻⁴
Sodium Oxalate	2.48	1.85 x 10 ⁻⁵
Sodium Nitrate	4070	4.79 x 10 ⁻²
Sodium Nitrite	2640	3.83 x 10 ⁻²
Sodium Hydroxide	8340	2.08 x 10 ⁻¹

Table 2. RCT heel plus condensate simulant composition (pH ~13)

3.2 Oxidation Stoichiometry

A detailed discussion of oxidation stoichiometry can be found in the simulant study reports.^{7,8} The stoichiometry for this process is defined as the molar ratio of permanganate to glycolate (P/G) in the batch. The target stoichiometry for the testing was 5.7 P/G and was anticipated to decrease the glycolate concentration to below IC reporting limits within 3 hours. While reaction equation (1) above indicates a P/G ratio of 4, more would likely be needed for the sake of kinetics and reaction inefficiencies.

3.3 Experiment Scaling

The experiments were performed with 250 mL condensate feed volumes, which is 1/88,000 fraction of the RCT condensate feed volume (5810 gallons). A comparison of scale between DWPF, small-scale testing with simulants, and radioactive waste testing in the Shielded Cells can be found in Table 3. Despite the small size, the chemistry is not expected to be scale dependent, and the main value of radioactive waste testing is to validate results from simulant testing.

	DWPF (gal)	Large-Scale Laboratory (mL)	Small-Scale Laboratory (mL)	Small-Scale Shielded Cells (mL)
RCT Heel	1400	3470	315	60.2
50 wt% NaOH	75	186	16.9	3.23
Condensate	5810	15600	1310	250
Sludge	14	35	3.15	0.60
6.6M NaNO ₂ Solution	215	532	48.4	9.25
Permanganate, Targeting P/G 5.7	53	132	12	2.3

Table 3. Chemical scaling of laboratory experiments vs. DWPF Operations

3.4 Experimental Apparatus and Parameters

The experimental apparatus was located in SRNL Cell Block A and consisted of an open 500-mL borosilicate glass Erlenmeyer flask on a magnetic stir plate. A photograph of the apparatus used for the OGCT experiment can be seen in Figure 1. An opaque covering for the flask was provided to minimize light exposure, since permanganate and manganate species are known to be affected by visible light. The 500-mL volume was sufficient for the test with reasonable but not excessive freeboard (see volumes in Table 3). The mixture was maintained at the ambient Shielded Cells temperature of 15-17 °C. The mixing rate was not measured but was set visually with no vortex that would entrain air.



Figure 1: Photograph of the experimental apparatus in the Shielded Cell.

3.5 Sample Preparations and Characterization

Characterizations of the OGCT and SMECT samples received from DWPF were performed as described in the Run Plan.¹² During each experiment, approximately 15 mL samples were drawn from the test vessel. Measurement of the glycolate kinetics requires "quenching" of samples when they are drawn to stop the reaction(s) that are removing glycolate from solution. This is to be distinguished from another process of "caustic quenching" used elsewhere in this work. This work quenched samples with about 0.3 grams of sodium sulfite, a reductant, pre-loaded in each sample vial. Sodium sulfite consumes permanganate, stopping any reaction that permanganate is causing. This method thus allowed tracking of glycolate concentration with time, preserving remaining glycolate in sample solutions.

Outside of alkaline samples quenched with sodium sulfite, acid and water dilutions of samples were performed as in the run plan. Dilutions for OGCT samples were often done at one order of magnitude to help with the concern about as low as reasonably achievable (ALARA) dose from those highly radioactive samples. Cesium removal was not performed for ALARA purposes because of concerns that it could remove desired analytes. For example, crystalline silicotitanate will remove cesium, but it would also target other metals like calcium and iron. Cesium removal was only performed per routine within the Analytical Development (AD) liquid scintillation analysis to help refine alpha and low level beta quantifications.

Acid was used to dilute samples when metal and radioisotope analyses were done, giving best stability for such analytes. Water was used to dilute samples for IC anions, total inorganic carbon (TIC) and total organic carbon (TOC).

3.6 Quality Assurance

This work meets the requested Safety Class (SC) level of quality assurance. SRNL will treat all documents from this work as lifetime retention records. The work is not waste form affecting and does not apply the requirements of RW333P. Requirements for performing reviews of technical reports and the extent of review are established in manual E7 2.60. SRNL documents the extent and type of review using the SRNL Technical Report Design Checklist contained in WSRC-IM-2002-00011, Rev. 2. Information from the experiments was posted in Electronic Laboratory Notebook T7692-00094-08.

4.0 Results and Discussion

4.1 Waste Component Characterization

The OGCT and SMECT samples were received from DWPF in sets of six 220 mL stainless steel sample vials. The OGCT sample number was #25484, pulled April 5, 2019. The DWPF melter was being fed and was pouring glass at the time. The SMECT sample number was #25648, pulled May 21, 2019. Melter status was not available, but the sample is shown as Batch number 4573.

Each set of six was composited to provide separate SMECT and OGCT feed samples. The SMECT sample was a clear liquid with no visible solids and is not pictured. The OGCT sample contained very fine gray visible settled solids. A photograph of the composite OGCT sample and the combined OGCT-RCT mixture can be seen in

Figure 2.

The SME product used for this work contained 18700 mg/L \pm 9% relative standard deviation (RSD) glycolate by triplicate measurement. This work measured out about 10 grams of SME product sludge for treatment with 50 wt % NaOH. The SME product sludges were contacted with sodium hydroxide per the "caustic quench" method used in reference 13. Deionized water and 1 gram of the caustic SME sludge samples were put into the flasks, making caustic sludge water mixtures of 100 mL. AD reported IC anions

glycolate results from filtrates to find the amount of glycolate that SME product sludge would add to an alkaline aqueous solution.

SME product sludge was added to the combined RCT samples to simulate glycolate carryover to attain the values listed in in Table 4. The target was 125 mg/L glycolate. The amount of SME product sludge was adjusted based on batch volumes and the measured average glycolate content of the sludge.

Table 4 shows a summary of the measured concentrations of key analytes for the samples and mixtures. The pH of the SMECT was determined by AD using an ion selective electrode. The OGCT sample was estimated using pH paper in cell. This is because dilutions required for ALARA purposes to minimize radiation exposure to AD would invalidate pH measurement of samples.



Figure 2: Photographs of the combined OGCT sample and the combined OGCT, RCT Heel, and SME product.

Formate and oxalate measurements in Table 4 show that SME product was a contributing source of both of these. The heel simulant values show that the simulant contained insufficient amounts of these to account for the combined batch compositions before permanganate was added.

All values of TIC, TOC, and total carbon were less than the reporting limits for both the SMECT and OGCT samples as-received. SMECT reporting limits were <40 mg/L for total carbon and <20 mg/L for each of TIC and TOC. OGCT reporting limits were <117 mg/L for total carbon and <58.6 mg/L for each of TIC and TOC. The 60.4 mg/L of formate in the SMECT sample provided only 16 mg/L carbon content, which is less than the <20 mg/L reporting limit for TOC.

	Glycolate (mg/L)	Formate (mg/L)	Oxalate (mg/L)	Nitrate (mg/L)	Nitrite (mg/L)	Mn (mg/L)	Hg (mg/L)	рН
SME Product	18700							
SMECT		60.4	< 10	3600	< 10	3.87	101	1.6
OGCT		< 117	< 117	2790	< 117	57.7	213	0-1ª
RCT Heel								
Simulant ^b	0	18.3	2.05	2970	1762	0	0	13.3
Combined SME Product, Heel Simulant, and SMECT or OGCT								
Combined SMECT	145	59.3	66.4	2790	9460	< 0.227		13.2
Combined OGCT	183	66.8	70.0	2940	9500	576	173	13.2

 Table 4: Composition of SME, SMECT, OGCT and RCT Samples

^a Estimated

^bCalculated

Dashes in cells here and other tables indicate no measurement performed.

Table 5 shows ICPES results of the OGCT and SMECT samples from DWPF and composited with the RCT heel and SME product. The increase in sodium content reflects the addition of the Table 2 simulant per the desired volume additions of Table 3. Unexpectedly, an increase in soluble Ca, Fe, Mn, Ni, Si, Th, U, and Zr was observed in the combined OGCT-RCT sample. The solubility of these metal ions is expected to be lower in highly alkaline solutions and the reason for their appearance is unknown. The solids that came in with the acidic OGCT sample are the source of the excess elements, so the exposure of the OGCT solids to the caustic simulated heel must have increased their tendency to dissolve. The resulting batch mixture was alkaline. AD re-checked their various dilutions of the samples and found that ICPES data were consistent in indicating the presence of the elements in the samples. In contrast, minimal soluble manganese, beyond a small amount left from the permanganate reaction, was detected in the liquid from the completed SMECT test batch.

Table 6 provides the few significant masses detected by ICPMS. Masses corresponding to mercury (196, 198, 204) were omitted because ICPMS is not used to quantify mercury. Masses likely indicate technetium-99, cesium-133 and 137, cerium-140, and uranium-238. The OGCT results for cesium show that about 23% of the cesium is Cs-137 versus the stable 133 isotope.

	SMECT San	nple	SMECT-R	СТ	OGCT Sam	ple	e OGCT-RCT	
Element	Average (mg/L)	% RSD	mg/L	% RSD	Average (mg/L) % RSD		mg/L	% RSD
Al	4.26	10	13	10.3	82.3	10	401	10
В	7.75	10	< 23.4	N/A	106	10	< 257	N/A
Ва	< 0.076	N/A	< 0.498	N/A	0.47	10	< 9.2	N/A
Ca	2.45	10.1	< 0.989	N/A	15.0	10	119	10
Cr	< 0.32	N/A	< 1.02	N/A	7.63	10.1	< 19.47	N/A
Cu	< 0.30	N/A	< 2.58	N/A	0.99	10.9	< 15.2	N/A
Fe	6.54	10	< 0.882	N/A	131	10	1410	10.2
Li	< 0.53	N/A	< 3.45	N/A	12.6	10	< 34.5	N/A
Mg	0.35	10	< 0.068	N/A	2.98	10	30.6	10.1
Mn	3.87	10	< 0.227	N/A	57.7	10	576	10.1
Na	37.6	10	10500	10.6	349	10	12800	10
Ni	< 1.21	N/A	< 7.92	N/A	10.7	10.1	122	10
Si	60.2	10.2	76.3	10.1	137	10	283	20
Sr	< 2.84	N/A	< 18.6	N/A	0.24	10	< 2.97	N/A
Th	< 1.81	N/A	< 7.15	N/A	7.68	10.5	78.9	20
Ti	< 0.061	N/A	< 0.324	N/A	0.57	10.1	< 3.96	N/A
U	< 9.66	N/A	< 52.6	N/A	30.6	11.8	231	11.8
Zn	1.80	N/A	< 2.03	N/A	2.52	10	< 8.47	N/A
Zr	< 0.088	10.1	< 0.574	N/A	1.39	10.2	18.1	10.3

Table 5: SMECT and OGCT Samples and RCT Composite Samples - ICPES Results*

Results listed are soluble elemental concentrations. %RSD is 100(std deviation/average of values)

	SMECT	-	OGCT	
Mass	mg/L % RSD		mg/L	% RSD
99	<0.003	N/A	1.48	1
133	0.08	0.6	5.45	1
137	0.03	0.5	1.59	2
140	0.08	2.3	1.43	9
238	1.94	0.1	31.1	1

Table 6. Isotopic Masses found in the DWPF Samples

Table 7 provides the radiochemistry characterization for the as-received SMECT and OGCT samples. SMECT samples were submitted with 3x dilution using 1.5 M nitric acid to ensure low pH samples. OGCT samples were acid-diluted by a factor of about 12 mainly for radiation exposure purposes. Initial dose data from DWPF indicated high activity from the OGCT sample. The OGCT sample was found to contain a two orders of magnitude higher concentration of cesium-137 than the SMECT liquid sample. Sample dose is significant to the radiation hood worker at the higher cesium-137 activity, so OGCT samples were diluted and handled in smaller numbers for ALARA purposes. Sample cesium removals were not performed for dose purposes because of the possibility of removing other analytes along with cesium. Radiological hood limits are specified in an SRNL radiological work practices procedure.¹⁵

Cesium-137 activity summed with two times the strontium-90 activity is in good agreement with total beta for the SMECT sample. This suggests that there are no other significant beta emitters in that sample. Cesium-137 explains most of the total beta found in the OGCT sample, and if that is removed, the double beta decay of the strontium-90 explains much of the remainder. Technetium-99 activities are too low to affect beta measurements. Alpha activity is below quantification concentrations for both SMECT and OGCT samples. The cesium-removed alpha value is often the more reliable of the two types of alpha measurement. This is because the high beta activity of the sample with cesium-137 present will interfere with concurrent alpha quantification by liquid scintillation.

The last row of Table 7 compares technetium-99 by the counting method with that of the ICPMS value converted to activity. The ICPMS value is about 15% lower but is within the uncertainty for the ICPMS method (20%).

	SMECT		OGCT	
	dpm/mL	% RSD	dpm/mL	% RSD
Total Alpha	< 1.04E+05*	N/A	< 3.15E+06**	N/A
Total Alpha - Cs Removed		N/A	< 1.59E+06	N/A
Total Beta	6.28E+06	2.86	4.36E+08	1.32
Total Beta - Cs Removed		N/A	5.53E+07	30.8
Cs-134	< 1.23E+04	N/A	< 1.11E+05	N/A
Cs-137	3.42E+06	1.40	3.34E+08	4.18
Sr-90 (beta)	1.42E+06	13.4	1.63E+07	17.1
Тс-99	8.98E+01	15.1	6.56E+04	4.00
Tc-99 calculated from ICPMS	<1.1E+02	-	5.63E+04	20.0

 Table 7: Summary of Activity from as-received SMECT and OGCT samples

* Upper Limit Value

** Below the Minimum Reporting Amount

4.2 Glycolate Destruction

Results from the glycolate destruction reaction in the SMECT and OGCT batches can be found in Table 8 and Table 9. All results in these tables are reported with an analytical uncertainty of 10%. Water dilutions were performed on the OGCT samples for ALARA purposes prior to analysis resulting in higher IC glycolate reporting limits for the OGCT samples (i.e., 23 mg/L for OGCT vs. 10 mg/L for SMECT samples). The final SMECT analysis was performed 1 month after permanganate addition. An analogous time was not feasible for the OGCT sample because of analytical resource limitations at the end of the calendar year. IC analyses for the OGCT samples were performed 15, 70, and 114 days after the reaction with sodium permanganate. Glycolate concentrations were decreased to below the IC reporting limits in both reactions, and the molar ratio of nitrite to nitrate remained well above the 1.66 ratio required for the corrosion control program after 1 month for both tests.

Slurry Mix Evaporator Condensate Tank (SMECT) - P/G 5.6								
Time (min)	Glycolate (mg/L)	Formate (mg/L)	Oxalate (mg/L)	Nitrite (mg/L)	Nitrate (mg/L)	Nitrite/Nitrate (mol/mol)		
0	145	59.3	66.4	9460	2790	4.57		
32	67.7	< 10	139	9610	3230	4.01		
60	46.3	< 10	158	9570	3030	4.26		
93	32.2	< 10	197	9550	2950	4.36		
121	25.7	< 10	198	9530	3120	4.12		
182	16.4	< 10						
478	< 10	< 10	239	9590	3000	4.31		
31 days	< 10	< 10	263	8750	3000	3.93		

Table 8: SMECT experimental results – glycolate destruction and nitrite/nitrate ratio

Cells with dashes show no measurements were taken or available.

Table 9: OC	GCT experir	nental results	– glycolate (destruction	and nitrite/n	itrate ratio
1 4010 71 00	JCI CAPUII	icitui i coulto	Sigconace	acou action	and multiller in	iti att i atto

Offgas Condensate Tank (OGCT) - P/G 4.9								
Time (min)	Glycolate (mg/L)	Formate (mg/L)	Oxalate (mg/L)	Nitrite (mg/L)	Nitrate (mg/L)	Nitrite/Nitrate (mol/mol)		
0	183	66.8	70	9500	2940	4.36		
31	79.8	< 23	210	9120	2920	4.21		
60	40.7							
91	25.2							
122	< 23							
177	< 23							
474	< 23	< 22	294	9000	3000	4.04		
15 days*	< 10	< 10	296	9110	3700	3.32		
70 days**	< 25	< 10	< 10	5090	2640	2.60		
114 days	***	<10	297	9080	3600	3.40		

* Unquenched undiluted sample analyzed 15 days after start of the test.

** Likely a dilution problem with IC anions analysis for this sample

*** Not measured; no increase/return of glycolate assumed

The solution from the OGCT batch was sampled and analyzed by IC anions 114 days after the start of the test because the 70 day analysis appeared to have a dilution problem. The 114 day results in Table 9 show values in line with the 15 day sample, showing that anionic composition was stable through the long duration.

Glycolate concentrations in the combined SMECT/OGCT, RCT Heel, and SME Product mixture were measured prior to the permanganate reaction. Values from this measurement were used to determine the amount of permanganate required to meet the target P/G of 5.7. Sodium permanganate was added dropwise by pipette for 20 minutes, and the mass of permanganate added to the batch was determined using a mass balance. Using these measurements, the actual P/G ratio was determined to be 5.6 and 4.9 for the SMECT

and OGCT reactions respectively. Despite the actual ratios being below the targets, the glycolate destructions were still accomplished to below the reporting limit within the day of the tests.

Figure 3 depicts glycolate and oxalate concentrations as a function of time after the start of permanganate addition to the SMECT and OGCT batch solutions. Glycolate concentrations were decreased below reporting limits in both reactions, and greater than 50% of the glycolate was destroyed within 30 minutes of the start of permanganate addition. For both reactions, oxalate increased by approximately the same molar amount as glycolate decreased as in equation (1).



Figure 3: Glycolate and oxalate concentration as a function of time in *(left) SMECT* and *(right)* OGCT solutions during the permanganate reaction. IC reporting limits as shown.

The reaction rate was faster in the OCGT batch even with a lower P/G, and this may be due to the solids observed in the as-received OGCT sample. Testing with simulants revealed a lower P/G ratio was required to destroy glycolate with higher sludge content present in the test.^{7,8} While not definitive, one proposed mechanism suggests Mn^{2+} in sludge can be used to generate the oxidant Mn^{3+} from manganate or permanganate.⁷ The solids in the OGCT sample likely contained Mn^{2+} that may have contributed to this reaction.

Formate concentrations were decreased to below reporting limits within 30 minutes for both samples. The disappearance of formate differs from simulant studies where formate behaved as a spectator, but was in agreement with published reports of formate and permanganate reacting in alkaline solutions.^{16,17,18,19,20} Carbon dioxide (or carbonate in alkaline solution) is the likely product of this reaction because formate is such a simple molecule that no oxidized intermediates exist between it and carbon dioxide. While off-gas analysis was not performed during these experiments, it is expected that the majority of carbon dioxide formed was adsorbed into the highly alkaline (pH > 13) solution as it was generated. It would not have been observed in an off-gas stream. The low formate concentration would contribute so little carbonate that changes in solution would be too low to quantify.

The reason for the difference between reported simulant formate reactivity versus literature and radioactive waste results is unknown. The formate reaction in these tests did not consume enough oxidative reagents to prevent glycolate destruction in the first 8 hours. However, the glycolate flowsheet is considered to convert about 1% of glycolic acid to formate.²¹ The P/G ratio used in DWPF may need to be raised for conservatism to cover formate, chemical inefficiencies, uncertainties in glycolate content, and enhanced kinetics. Future modeling work may be able to address any additional questions.

4.2.1 Manganese

Simulant studies confirmed permanganate (Mn^{7+}) was reduced to manganate (Mn^{6+}). The manganese species were found to persist in caustic solutions.⁸ The concentration of soluble manganese was measured by ICPES for the SMECT and OGCT tests before and during the oxidation reaction, and approximately 1 month after the completion of the reaction (see Table 10). The sodium permanganate required to achieve a P/G of 5.7 contributes $\approx 600 \text{ mg/L}$ Mn to the solution. The "combined batch & permanganate" column in Table 10 is a combination of the measured manganese concentration in the batch solution with the calculated value of added permanganate.

	Soluble Manganese (mg/L)							
			Combined					
	Batch	Added	Batch &		1			
	Solution	Permanganate	Permanganate	3 Hours	Month			
SMECT	< 0.277	594	594*	22.6	11.6			
OGCT	576	660	1236*	1190	< 0.277			
* G 1	1 . 1							

Table 1	10• Soluble	Manganese	concentrations in	OGCT	and SMECT	Solutions
I abit	IV. SUIUDIC	manganese	concenti ations in	UUUI	and SMECT	Solutions

*Calculated

Measured manganese concentrations were decreased by one or two orders of magnitude for both tests after 1 month, likely the result of manganese dioxide precipitation. For the OGCT test, soluble manganese concentrations were similar to initial concentrations in the hours after the glycolate destruction reaction. The manganese concentration was greatly reduced three hours after the addition of permanganate to the SMECT batch. Gauger and Hallen reported that an equilibrium between permanganate and manganate will exist in alkaline solution.¹⁶ Manganate will precipitate some manganese dioxide in a disproportionation reaction to re-form permanganate. Since permanganate is chemically active to oxidize organic species in solution, soluble manganate is indirectly still useful towards this end. Manganese dioxide solids formation is the end state in any case.

4.2.2 ICPES Results

Results from ICPES analyses for the SMECT and OGCT batch mixtures, and 180 min, 480 min, and 1 month after the start of the permanganate reaction are found in Table 11 and Table 12. All results with initial and final values below reporting limits were omitted. Both the SMECT and OGCT samples contained ≈ 0.5 M sodium with measurable Al and Si. (Chemical leaching of the Erlenmeyer flask was a likely contributor to Si.) After one month, the solutions still contained 0.5 M Na and had measurable Si and Al, but the aluminum was decreased by a factor of 7 in the OGCT. In addition, the OGCT sample had measurable Ca, Fe, Mg, Ni, Th, U, and Zr in the initial sample and all were decreased during the permanganate reaction and ultimately below or near reporting limits after 1 month. Reduced concentrations of these metals would be expected in alkaline solutions because their solubilities are known to be very low at high pH.

SMECT-RCT Glycolate Oxidation - ICPES Results										
Element	Batch (mg/L)	%RSD	180 min (mg/L)	%RSD	480 min (mg/L)	%RSD	1 mo (mg/L)	%RSD		
Al	13	10.3	19.2	10	19.4	10	23.1	10		
Li	< 3.45	N/A	0.906	10.2	0.978	10.3	3.13	10.1		
Na	10500	10.6	10500	10	10700	10	10700	10		
Si	76.3	10.1	85.1	10	85.8	10	141	10.1		
U	< 52.6	N/A	< 6.47	N/A	< 6.47	N/A	5.81	12.2		

 Table 11: SMECT Experimental Results – ICPES

 Table 12: OGCT Experimental Results – ICPES

OGCT-RCT Glycolate Oxidation - ICPES Results									
Floment	Batch	9/ 05 0	90 min	9/ DCD	480 min	9/ DCD	1 mo	%D6D	
Element	(mg/L)	70K3D	(mg/L)	70 K 3D	(mg/L)	70 K 3D	(mg/L)	70K3D	
Al	401	10	172	10	174	10.1	57.2	10	
В	< 257	N/A	61.9	10	61.6	10	66.7	10	
Ca	119	10	38.9	10	38.9	10	< 0.989	N/A	
Cr	< 19.47	N/A	7.59	10.2	7.89	10.3	5.59	10.9	
Fe	1410	10.2	456	10.2	464	10	< 0.493	N/A	
Li	< 34.5	N/A	15.1	10.1	15.2	10.1	< 9.28	N/A	
Mg	30.6	10.1	7.49	10	7.42	10	0.14	10.1	
Na	12800	10	11200	10	11200	10	11400	10	
Ni	122	10	34.2	10.5	34.8	10.1	< 6.71	N/A	
Si	283	20	123	10.2	127	10.2	99.6	12	
Th	78.9	20	25.9	11.1	25.8	10.3	< 1.93	N/A	
U	231	11.8	60.1	10.2	61.2	10.5	< 21.6	N/A	
Zr	18.1	10.3	6.45	10.1	6.37	10	< 0.574	N/A	

4.2.3 Mercury

Total mercury by "Direct Mercury Analysis" or DMA was measured in triplicate for SMECT and OGCT samples as received (diluted with acid in the case of OGCT for ALARA purposes). The AD method used a Milestone[®] Direct Mercury Analyzer (DMA-80) system.²² Total mercury was also measured once for initial batches before permanganate addition, and at other times as shown in Table 13 below. The 480-minute measurement for the SMECT batch was not performed, though the concentration at that time was likely not much different from the values found earlier in the day.

Ideally the initial batch measurement would be 76% of the as-received sample value due to dilution by simulant heel, 50 wt % NaOH, and 6.6 M NaNO₂ solutions (60.2, 3.2, and 9.25 mL respectively). SME product would add about 2.5 mL of volume as well. The SME product may contribute some mercury, though the 21% uncertainty in each case is probably from sampling and measurement uncertainties.

Test Time, SMECT	mg/L Hg	Test Time, OGCT	mg/L Hg
As-received Sample*	101 +/- 21.6 %RSD	As-received Sample*	213 +/- 22.4 %RSD
Initial Batch	102	Initial Batch	173
60 minute	108		
120 minute	116		
180 minute	104	480 minute	54.8
1-month	45.1	1-month	13.6

Table 13. DMA Total Mercury (Soluble) for Various Samples

*Triplicate measurements

The OGCT batch showed some soluble mercury reduction measured after eight hours of processing while the SMECT batch showed no significant change in three hours. In the 1 month of aging after that, definite reductions in soluble mercury was seen in both cases. The permanganate process thus does not decrease soluble mercury concentrations rapidly. The effect of the permanganate process to precipitate mercury is not known because no control was run to see if mercury concentration in solution would decline in time on its own.

SRNL measured methylmercury anion (CH₃Hg⁺) in triplicate for the SMECT sample, and all three results were less than the 0.2 mg/L reporting limit.²³ The SMECT sample was analyzed "as is" without mercury preservative use. The mercury in the SMECT sample as received thus appeared to be inorganic species.

4.2.4 Weight Percent Solids

Table 14 shows measured total and insoluble solids for both SMECT and OGCT samples. Total solids measurements were performed in triplicate and the average and %RSD are reported. For the SMECT sample, one measurement differed more than expected from the other two and accounts for the relatively large %RSD. Excluding this outlier, the SMECT total solids becomes 3.05 ± 0.5 %RSD and total solids in both condensates are close to 3 weight percent.

The permanganate process adds solids to the batch because the permanganate goes to lower oxidation states, and probably to manganese dioxide, in alkaline media. An example calculation shows that this process adds less than 0.1 wt % insoluble solids to the RCT batch if the permanganate does convert to manganese dioxide solids. If the glycolate concentration in the adjusted batch is 145 mg/L, that is 0.00193 M, and at a stoichiometry ratio of 5.7, would call for the addition of 0.011 M manganese as permanganate. Converting all this manganese to insoluble manganese dioxide would yield 0.96 grams in one liter, or just less than 0.1 wt %.

Table 14 shows measured insoluble solids gains for both SMECT and OGCT tests. The in-cell method²⁴ shows greater gains than 0.1 wt %, but all numbers are still very low. Uncertainties are large because of the small amounts of solids present in the samples. Perhaps the solids are hydrated and do not dry completely or lose hydroxide groups at the 130 °C drying temperature. Increases may also include other species that precipitate with the manganese, such as a small amount of mercury. Soluble aluminum, calcium, magnesium, nickel, uranium, thorium, and zirconium also show declines in the one-month OGCT sample – see Table 12. The declines are slow but easily measurable.

SMECT	Weight % Total Solids	Weight % Insoluble Solids	OGCT	Weight % Total Solids	Weight % Insoluble Solids
As-received	3.49 +/- 21.1 %RSD	Zero*	As-received	3.06 +/- 2.22 %RSD	0.043 +/- 43 %RSD
1-month	Not Measured	0.47 +/- 27%RSD	1-month	Not Measured	0.36 +/- 55 %RSD

Table 14. Weight % Total and Insoluble Solids Measurements

*Observed completely clear solution

4.3 Comparison of radioactive waste and simulant testing

A comparison of glycolate concentrations between the two tests with radioactive waste and analogous experiments with simulants can be found in Figure 4. In addition to the tests using SMECT and OGCT described in this report, two experiments using simulants with a P/G ratio of 5.7 (Sim 1.8 L) and 5.6 (Sim 20 L) are shown. The simulant studies were performed at different volume scales and additional information on these tests can be found in the report.⁸ The IC reporting limit of 10 mg/L shown applies to the SMECT and both simulant samples. The OGCT reporting limit of 23 mg/L is not shown, and OGCT data below this value is omitted for clarity.



Figure 4: Comparison of glycolate destruction reactions performed in radioactive waste (SMECT and OGCT) and simulants (Sim 1.8 L and Sim 20 L) with similar initial glycolate concentrations and P/G ratios.

Glycolate was similarly destroyed in both radioactive-waste and simulant studies. Where > 80% of the glycolate destruction reaction was complete before 90 minutes in the simulant studies and the OGCT,

approximately 78% was destroyed in the SMECT composite possibly suggesting a slower reaction rate in this sample.

5.0 Conclusions and Recommendations

Glycolate destruction tests using sodium permanganate with OGCT and SMECT samples from DWPF have been completed. The following conclusions are drawn.

- 1) Glycolate at a starting concentration of 145 mg/L was decreased below the IC reporting limit of 10 mg/L for the SMECT test in 8 hours using a P/G ratio of 5.6.
- 2) Glycolate at a starting concentration of 183 mg/L was decreased below 23 mg/L for the OGCT test within 122 minutes (approximately 2 hours) using a P/G of 4.9.
- 3) In both experiments, > 75% of the glycolate destruction reaction was complete within 90 minutes of the start of permanganate addition.
- 4) Oxalate content in both tests increased by approximately the same molar amount as glycolate decreased. This is consistent with equation 1 of Section 2.0.
- 5) Contrary to simulant studies, formate was decreased to below IC reporting limits within 30 minutes. This assumed reaction with permanganate would consume oxidant and may need consideration if significant formate were in the feed.
- 6) The glycolate destruction reaction was faster in the OGCT batch than in the SMECT batch, possibly due to manganese bearing solids present in the OGCT feed sample.
- 7) The soluble manganese concentration for the OGCT product was decreased one or two orders of magnitude after one month.
- 8) A small amount of nitrite destruction may occur, but nitrite/nitrate ratios remained well above 1.66 for corrosion control concerns after one month. Since permanganate is not present after a month, it is no longer able to oxidize nitrite to nitrate.

The work herein demonstrates permanganate to be an effective oxidant for mitigating glycolate. A current kinetic modeling effort is examining the rate constants from radioactive and simulant results. It is recommended to continue the chemical and tank farm modeling, which will include impacts of thermolytic hydrogen downstream.

6.0 References

- 1. G. Chen and M. Clark, "Evaluation of Chemical Additives for Glycolate Mitigation," Savannah River Remediation, LLC, Aiken, SC, **X-TTR-S-00068, Rev. 0**, 2018.
- D.P. Lambert, "Task Technical and Quality Assurance Plan for Evaluation of Chemical Additives for Glycolate Mitigation," Savannah River National Laboratory, Aiken, SC, SRNL-RP-2018-00358, Rev. 0, 2018.
- 3. G. Chen and E.W. Holtzscheiter, "Screening Study: Chemical Additives for Low Concentration Glycolate Decomposition in Defense Waste Processing Facility (DWPF) Recycle Stream to Tank Farm," Savannah River Remediation, LLC, Aiken, SC, **X-TAR-S-00007**, **Rev. 0**, 2017.
- 4. T.B. Peters and C.A. Nash, "Glycolate Mitigation Run Plan without Off-Gas Testing," Savannah River National Laboratory, Aiken, SC, **SRNL-L3100-2018-00043**, **Rev. 0**, 2018.
- 5. T.B. Peters and C.A. Nash, "Defense Waste Processing Facility (DWPF) Glycolate Mitigation: Scoping Test Results," Savannah River National Laboratory, Aiken, SC, **SRNL-STI-2018-00175**, **Rev. 0**, 2018.
- 6. D.P. Lambert, M.S. Williams, and T.B. Edwards, "Run Plan #1: Determining Optimum Processing Conditions for Oxidation of Organic Species in a Typical Recycle Collection Tank Simulant," Savannah River National Laboratory, Aiken, SC, **SRNL-L3300-2018-00023**, **Rev. 1**, 2018.
- 7. J.R. Zamecnik, D.P. Lambert, W.T. Riley, and W.G. Ramsey, "Permanganate Oxidation of Defense Waste Processing Facility (DWPF) Recycle Collection Tank (RCT) Simulants – Protocol Runs for Nominal and Chemical Process Cell (CPC) Foamover Conditions," Savannah River National Laboratory, Aiken, SC, **SRNL-STI-2019-00292, Rev. 0**, 2019.
- M.J. Siegfried, W.G. Ramsey, and M.S. Williams, "Permanganate Oxidation of Defense Waste Processing Facility (DWPF) Recycle Collection Tank (RCT) Simulants Larger Scale Protocol Runs - Chemical Process Cell (CPC) Nominal and Foamover Conditions," Savannah River National Laboratory, SRNL-STI-2019-00588, Rev. 0, 2019.
- 9. R.E. Fuentes, "Impact of Permanganate Oxidation of Glycolate on Corrosion of the Defense Waste Processing Facility (DWPF) Recycle Collection Tank (RCT), Transfer-line and Waste Tank Materials of Construction (MoC)," Savanna River National Laboratory, **SRNL-STI-2019-00742**, **Rev. 0**, 2020.
- 10. C.J. Martino, J.M. Pareizs, and J.D. Newell, "Thermolytic Hydrogen Generation Testing of Tank 22 Material," Savannah River National Laboratory, **SRNL-STI-2018-00385, Rev. 0**, 2018.
- K. Martin, "CSTF Corrosion Control Program," Westinghouse Savannah River Company, WSRC-TR-2002-00327 Rev. 9, 2015.
- 12. C.A. Nash, "Run Plan for Permanganate Oxidation of Actual Defense Waste Processing Facility (DWPF) Slurry Mix Evaporate Condensate Tank (SMECT) and Offgas Condensate Tank (OGCT) Samples to Remediate Glycolate," Savannah River National Laboratory, SRNL-L3100-2019-00021, Rev. 0, September 2019.
- 13. J.D. Newell, J.M. Pareizs, C.J. Martino, S.H. Reboul, C.J. Coleman, T.B. Edwards, and F.C. Johnson, "Actual Waste Demonstration of the Nitric-Glycolic Flowsheet for Sludge Batch 9 Qualification," Savannah River National Laboratory, **SRNL-STI-2016-00327**, **Rev. 1**, 2017.
- M.J. Siegfried, "Run Plan for Permanganate Oxidation of Defense Waste Processing Facility (DWPF) Recycle Collection Tank (RCT) Larger Scale Runs - Chemical Process Cell (CPC) Foamover Conditions," Savannah River National Laboratory, SRNL-L3300-2019-00020, Rev 0, 2019.
- 15. SRNL Procedure Manual L1, Procedure **2.32**, "Safe Practices Radiological Work Practices (U)", Rev. 23, September 30, 2019.
- 16. A.M. Gauger and R.T. Hallen, "Individual Reactions of Permanganate and Various Reductants," Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, **PNNL-21728**, 2012.

- 17. Issa, I.M., and Issa, R.M., "Formic acid as a reagent for alkaline permanganate : Potentiometric determination of formate", *Analytica Chimica Acta*, Vol. 11, pp. 192-199, (1954).
- Holluta, J., " Mechanism of the reduction of permanganate and its physico-chemical basis.
 V. Mechanism of the reduction of manganate and its dependence on the alkalinity", *Z. Physik. Chem.* Vol. 106, pp. 276-294, (1923)
- 19. Wiberg, K.B, and Stewart, R., "The Mechanisms of Permanganate Oxidation. II. The Oxidation of Foramte Ion", Journal of the American Chemical Society, Vol. 78, pages 1214-1216, March 1956.
- Drummond, A., and Waters, W., "Stages in Oxidation of Orgamic Compounds by Potassium Permanganate. Part I. The Permangagate - Manganate Stage. Part II. The Manganic -Manganous Stage", Journal of the Chemical Society, pages 435 - 443, 1953
- 21. J. R. Zamecnik and T. B. Edwards, "DWPF Nitric-Glycolic Flowsheet Chemical Process Cell Chemistry: Part I", **SRNL-STI-2015-00681**, rev. 0, 2016.
- 22. Analytical Development Section Analytical Operating Procedures, **L16.1-ADS-1580**, "Analysis of Mercury Using a Milestone Direct Mercury Analyzer (DMA-80) (U)", Rev. 1, January 2020.
- 23. Analytical Development Section Analytical Operating Procedures, L16.1-ADS-2659, "Mercury Speciation on the Automated MERX-M GCCVAFS(U)", Rev. 1, June 2017.
- 24. Analytical Development Section Analytical Operating Procedures, L16.1-ADS-2284, "Procedure for Measuring Weight % Total Solids, Soluble Solids, and Insoluble Solids (U)", Rev. 2, March 2009.

Distribution:

john.occhipinti@srs.gov alex.cozzi@srnl.doe.gov david.crowley@srnl.doe.gov a.fellinger@srnl.doe.gov samuel.fink@srnl.doe.gov brady.lee@srnl.doe.gov connie.herman@srnl.doe.gov Joseph.Manna@srnl.doe.gov Anna.Murphy@srs.gov john.mayer@srnl.doe.gov daniel.mccabe@srnl.doe.gov frank.pennebaker@srn1.doe.gov William.Ramsey@SRNL.DOE.gov Jocelyn.Lampert@srnl.doe.gov arthur.wiggins@srs.gov michael.stone@srnl.doe.gov Boyd.Wiedenman@srnl.doe.gov **Records Administration (EDWS)** jeffrey.crenshaw@srs.gov james.folk@srs.gov Azikiwe.hooker@srs.gov celia.aponte@srs.gov Christine.Ridgeway@srs.gov tony.polk@srs.gov patricia.suggs@srs.gov Kevin.Brotherton@srs.gov Richard.Edwards@srs.gov terri.fellinger@srs.gov Anthony.Robinson@srs.gov bill.clark@srs.gov jeffrey.gillam@srs.gov barbara.hamm@srs.gov bill.holtzscheiter@srs.gov john.iaukea@srs.gov Vijay.Jain@srs.gov earl.brass@srs.gov Gregg.Morgan@srnl.doe.gov Jeremiah.Ledbetter@srs.gov MARIA.RIOS-ARMSTRONG@SRS.GOV jonathan.duffey@srnl.doe.gov phillip.norris@srs.gov chris.martino@srnl.doe.gov jeff.ray@srs.gov Brenda.Garcia-Diaz@srnl.doe.gov cj.bannochie@srnl.doe.gov Curtis.Gardner@srs.gov Pauline.hang@srs.gov Azadeh.Samadi-Dezfouli@srs.gov hasmukh.shah@srs.gov aaron.staub@srs.gov

dennis.jackson@srnl.doe.gov eric.skidmore@srnl.doe.gov Grace.Chen@srs.gov lauryn.jamison@srs.gov mark-a.smith@srs.gov robert.hoeppel@srs.gov thomas.temple@srs.gov Amy.Ramsey@srnl.doe.gov Thomas.Huff@srs.gov ryan.mcnew@srs.gov Spencer.Isom@srs.gov thomas.colleran@srs.gov timothy.baughman@srs.gov hilary.bui@srs.gov tommy.edwards@srnl.doe.gov charles.crawford@srnl.doe.gov Wesley.Woodham@srnl.doe.gov